IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 83,955

On Petition For Discretionary Review From The First District Court Of Appeal

VINCENT GRAMEGNA,

Petitioner,

v.

FLORIDA PAROLE COMMISSION

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER VINCENT GRAMEGNA

HOLLAND & KNIGHT

Scott D. Makar (FBN 709697) Andrew H. Nachman (FBN 870470) 50 North Laura St., #3900 Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 353-2000

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

Vincent Gramegna ("Gramegna") petitions the Court to review a decision of the First District Court of Appeal which certified two questions of great public importance. Gramegna v. Florida

Parole Comm'n, 638 So. 2d 205 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Gramegna, who had been representing himself pro se in the lower tribunals, moved this Court to appoint appellate counsel. The undersigned was appointed to file briefs on behalf of Gramegna addressing the questions the First District has certified.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 6, 1990, Gramegna -- then a waiter at a Tarpon Springs, Florida, restaurant -- was arrested for alleged sexual touchings of a fourteen-year-old female. The State's information charged Gramegna with three violations of Section 800.04(1), Florida Statutes (1991), which makes it unlawful for a person to handle, fondle, or assault any child under the age of sixteen in a lewd, lascivious, or indecent manner without committing the crime of sexual battery. The three acts alleged in the information were the:

- placement of his hand "on the female sexual organ" of the minor (Count One);
- placement of his hand "on or about the female breast(s)" of the minor (Count Two); and
- placement of the hand of the minor "on the sexual organ" of Petitioner (Count Three).

[R 16-17]. Neither the information, indictment, bill of particulars nor judgment assert or establish that the acts were without the minor's consent (i.e., nonconsensual). [R 16-17] On

April 23, 1991, Gramegna entered a plea of nolo contendere to the three counts and was thereby convicted and sentenced to three concurrent ten year terms of incarceration. [R 18-23]

On July 19, 1993, Gramegna filed a <u>pro se</u> mandamus petition with the Circuit Court, Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, challenging the determination of the Florida Parole Commission ("Commission") that he was ineligible for control release consideration under section 947.146(4)(c), Florida Statutes (1991) (now renumbered as 947.146(3)(c)). [R 1-3] This subsection of the statute provides that control release is unavailable to an inmate <u>convicted</u> of:

committing or attempting to commit sexual battery, incest, or any of the following lewd and lascivious acts: masturbating in public, exposing the sexual organs in a perverted manner; or nonconsensual handling or fondling of the genitals of another person.

(Emphasis added). In his petition, Gramegna contended that the sexual activity underlying his convictions was consensual and that he was neither charged with nor convicted of an act involving the "nonconsensual handling or fondling of the genitals of another person." [R 2-3]

In its response to the trial court's August 27, 1993 order to show cause [R 8-9], the Commission claimed that Gramegna was ineligible under section 947.146(3)(c) for two reasons. First, the Commission asserted that the placement of the minor's hand on Gramegna's genitals as alleged in Count Three was "nonconsensual" based solely upon the word "forced" contained in a probable cause statement in an arrest report which the Commission attached as an

exhibit to its response. [R 12-13] The statement, in its entirety, provides:

Affiant conducted an investigation in which it was reported that the above subject had on several ocasions [sic], while alone with the 14 year old victim, did fondle the breasts, underneath her clothing, did fondle her vaginal area on the outside of her clothing, and did take the victim's hand and <u>forced</u> her to fondle his genitals. Writer advised the subject Miranda by card, after which he did admit to these allegations.

[R 25]. (Emphasis added). The report does not indicate who was interviewed or what evidence was considered during the investigation. The report is not attached to or otherwise included or referenced in the State's information or other charging document contained in the record. In addition, neither the report nor other record evidence indicate that the touchings of the minor's breasts or genitals alleged in Counts One and Two of the information were nonconsensual.

Second, the Commission asserted that the fourteen-year-old "could not have consented" as a matter of law to touching Gramegna's sexual organ. In support, the Commission relied upon trial court orders from two unrelated proceedings. [R 13] The first order holds that the Commission can rely upon "information obtained from investigative reports as the sole basis for determining an inmate's eligibility for control release." Gary Wilson v. Florida Parole Comm'n, No. 92-3786 (Second Judicial

The arresting officer's statement indicates only that Gramegna allegedly "forced" the minor to touch his sexual organ. The report does not contain any indication that the other two touchings at issue were other than nonconsensual. The alleged acts occurred at some unspecified times during the period August to November 1989. [R 25].

Circuit, in and for Leon County, May 10, 1993) (Smith, J.) [R 27-29]. The First District affirmed this decision but certified to this Court the same question in this proceeding related to the use of arrest reports. Wilson v. Florida Parole Comm'n, 638 So. 2d 205 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). The second order merely holds, without factual or legal discussion, that the petitioner therein was "convicted of acts which constitute '. . . non-consensual handling or fondling of the sexual organs of another person;'"

Steven L. Bracken v. Florida Parole Comm'n, Case No. 93-2452 (Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County) (Davey, J.)

[R 31-32].

The trial court denied Gramegna's petition without an evidentiary hearing.² The court's ruling, in relevant part, states:

On April 23, 1991, Gramegna was convicted and received a ten-year sentence for lewd and lascivious acts prohibited by Florida Statute § 800.04(1). The gravamen of these offenses was the "non-consensual handling or fondling of the sexual organs of another person." Gramegna claims that such activity was consensual and therefore he should be entitled to control release consideration. However, the acts were committed with a fourteen-year-old child who, as a matter of law, cannot consent. [F.S. § 800.04(4)] Thus, the criminal acts for which Petitioner was convicted were "non-consensual."

[R 37-38]. The trial court did not address the Commission's argument that the arresting officer's report provided a basis for denial of control release to Gramegna based upon the allegedly

² Unless Gramegna's petition and the Commission's response conclusively establish no entitlement to control release consideration, Gramegna is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. Cridland v. Singletary, 605 So. 2d 170 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

"forced" nature of the minor's touching of Gramegna's sexual organ as asserted in Count Three.

Gramegna appealed to the First District which affirmed on the authority of its recent decision in Fulkroad v. Florida Parole Comm'n, 632 So. 2d 148 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) which permitted reliance on a probable cause affidavit to establish the nature of the inmate's conviction for control release purposes. Although the First District felt constrained to follow Fulkroad, it questioned whether this Court's decision in <u>Dugger v. Grant</u>, 610 So. 2d 428 (Fla. 1992) authorized the Commission to deny control release based solely on an "arrest affidavit, rather than on the judgment of conviction, as the statute appears to mandate." 638 So. 2d at 207. The First District noted that this Court in Grant permitted the Commission to rely on information, such as a presentence investigative report, to determine "factual matters apart from the nature of the conviction" but that "the Grant court never held that a conviction could be proven except by a copy of the judgment." Id. (Emphasis in original). District, therefore, certified the following question as being of great public importance:

WHETHER AN ARRESTING OFFICER'S AFFIDAVIT MAY BE USED TO DENY CONTROL RELEASE ELIGIBILITY, UNDER SECTION 947.146(3)(C), FLORIDA STATUTES (1993), WHERE THE INFORMATION, INDICTMENT, BILL OF PARTICULARS AND JUDGMENT DO NOT ESTABLISH A DISQUALIFYING CONVICTION?

In recognition that the trial court held that a fourteen-year-old could not, as a matter of law, consent to sexual activity which

violates section 800.04, the First District also certified the following question:

WHETHER, FOR PURPOSES OF CONTROL RELEASE ELIGIBILITY DETERMINATIONS UNDER SECTION 947.146(3)(C), FLORIDA STATUTES, A CHILD UNDER THE AGE OF SIXTEEN CAN CONSENT TO SEXUAL ACTS THAT CONSTITUTE A VIOLATION OF SECTION 800.04, FLORIDA STATUTES?

Gramegna thereafter sought timely review of these certified questions by this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Gramegna is eligible for control release consideration because his conviction for a lewd or indecent act under section 800.04, Florida Statutes, is not a disqualifying offense. Under prior early release systems, any conviction for a lewd or indecent act rendered an inmate ineligible. In 1990, however, the range of disqualifying convictions for lewdness or indecency was drastically narrowed to only three types, none of which apply to Gramegna's conviction.

Specifically, Gramegna was not convicted of the narrowly proscribed offense of "nonconsensual handling or fondling of the sexual organs of another person" as set forth in section 947.146(3)(c), Florida Statutes (1993). Under this simple statutory disqualifier, the Commission may not look beyond the information, indictment, or other charging or sentencing document to determine the nature of Gramegna's conviction. Unlike <u>Dugger v. Grant</u>, 610 So. 2d 428 (Fla. 1992), where factual matters apart from the conviction under a compound statutory disqualifier were at issue, the Commission is limited to consideration of only that evidence which could reasonably form the basis of the conviction in the first instance. In this case, no record evidence establishes that the lewd act to which Gramegna pleaded nolo contendere (i.e., the handling or fondling of the genitals of another) was "nonconsensual."

Even if the Commission could look behind the judgment of conviction, the arrest report at issue provides no basis for concluding that the touching of the sexual organ of another was

"nonconsensual." The report, which Gramegna had no opportunity to contest and which would be inadmissible hearsay at trial, merely states that Gramegna "forced" the touching of his own sexual organ. This lewd act, even if nonconsensual, is not a disqualifying offense for control release purposes.

Finally, the case and statutory law of the State of Florida provides no basis for the trial court's overbroad holding that a fourteen-year-old, as a matter of law, cannot consent to sexual activities which otherwise violate section 800.04. The "consent not a defense" portion of section 800.04, upon which the trial court relied and which was upheld in Jones v. State, 640 So. 2d 1084 (Fla. 1994), does not logically or reasonably support the conclusion that all violations of section 800.04 are "nonconsensual" as a matter of law. In fact, the Legislature has explicitly indicated that persons twelve and older can consent to sexual intercourse and other sexual activities that fall within the definition of sexual battery under Chapter 794. Because minors twelve and older can factually and legally consent to the most consequential of sexual activities, it is apparent that minors from ages twelve to sixteen can consent to those less serious acts proscribed under section 800.04.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>SECTION 947.146(3)(C) DOES NOT DISQUALIFY GRAMEGNA</u> FROM CONTROL RELEASE CONSIDERATION.

The central issue in this proceeding is whether Gramegna is statutorily ineligible for consideration for control release³ based upon his conviction under section 800.04, Florida Statutes, for a lewd and lascivious act with a fourteen-year-old. Gramegna is entitled to consideration⁴ for control release unless the Commission establishes that his conviction is a disqualifying offense under the limited statutory criteria the Legislature has enacted. Specifically, the sole inquiry is whether Gramegna's conviction was for the narrowly proscribed offense of "non-consensual handling or fondling of the sexual organs of another person" set forth in section 947.146(3)(c), Florida Statutes

³ Gramegna recognizes that there is no liberty or substantive due process right to control release. He is, however, entitled to proper consideration of his eligibility for the control release program. Moore v. Florida Parole and Probation Comm'n, 289 So. 2d 719, 720, cert. denied, 417 U.S. 935, 94 S.Ct. 2649, 41 L. Ed. 2d 239 (1974); King v. Florida Parole Comm'n, 614 So. 2d 1183, 1184 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993).

Simply because an inmate is eligible for control release consideration does not automatically result in his early release. Instead, each statutorily eligible inmate is given a control release date and is subject to at least two levels of additional scrutiny. Rule 23-22.008, Fla. Admin. Code (1994). First, inmates are assessed to determine their suitability for release under risk-assessment criteria and a scoring matrix and grid. Id. Rule 23-22.008(b)-(d). Those deemed suitable are recommended for classification as "advanceable" while those deemed unsuitable are recommended as "non-advanceable" (the latter not receiving any advance control release date). Second, even those inmates recommended as "advanceable" under risk-assessment criteria can be placed in the "non-advanceable" classification based upon aggravating factors the Commission has adopted. Id. Rule 23-22-008(e). Mitigating factors may also be considered to advance release to an earlier date. Id. Rule 23-22-008(f).

(1993). For the reasons set forth below, neither the language of section 947.146(3)(c) nor the record evidence disqualify Gramegna from control release consideration. The initial sections of this Brief address the first certified question as well as other grounds establishing Gramegna's eligibility. The second certified question is addressed in the final section.

A. <u>An Arrest Report Cannot Establish the Nature of a Disqualifying Conviction</u>.

The first certified question addresses whether the Commission can rely upon an arresting officer's affidavit in an arrest report to deny control release under section 947.146(3)(c), Florida Statutes, where the information, indictment, bill of particulars and judgment do not establish a disqualifying conviction. In order to resolve this question, a brief overview of Florida's control release system and this Court's decision in <u>Dugger v. Grant</u> is necessary.

Florida's control release system was established in response to the need for an early-release mechanism due to overcrowded prison conditions. Like prior early-release systems, 5 control release consideration is available to inmates unless their convictions render them statutorily ineligible. Each of these systems excluded from consideration those inmates whose offenses and prior records indicated they might pose an unreasonable risk

⁵ The three prior systems included emergency release, administrative gain time, and provisional release credits. The first two are discussed in <u>Blankenship v. Dugger</u>, 521 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 1988), while the latter is discussed in <u>Dugger v. Grant</u>, 610 So. 2d 428 (Fla. 1992).

of harm to the public. Because prior early-release systems gave the Commission limited discretion and resulted in the release of sometimes violent offenders, the Legislature in 1989 revised the then-existing provisional release system and adopted the control release system.⁶

Under the control release system, the Legislature delegated to the Control Release Authority⁷ the authority to make early release decisions based on a system of uniform criteria.⁸ As with prior systems, control release consideration was made available to all inmates except those whose offenses rendered them ineligible. The specific disqualifying offenses were statutorily specified in section 947.146(3) which provides that a control release panel "shall establish a control release date for

⁶ Chapter 89-256, Laws of Florida, codified at section 947.146, Florida Statutes (1989).

⁷ Because the Authority is composed of the members of the Parole Commission, it will be referred to herein as the Commission unless such reference is otherwise inapplicable.

⁸ Section 947.146(4) provides that:

Control release dates shall be based upon a system of uniform criteria which shall include, but not be limited to, present offenses for which the person is committed, past criminal conduct, length of cumulative sentences, and age of the offender at the time of commitment, together with any aggravating or mitigating circumstances.

^{§ 947.146(4), &}lt;u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1994).

each parole ineligible inmate" except those convicted of certain enumerated offenses. (Emphasis added).9

The control release system, to a great extent, merely reestablished the same disqualifying offenses that rendered inmates ineligible under its predecessor, provisional release. The Legislature in 1990, however, significantly narrowed the scope of the types of sexual offenses that previously disqualified inmates from early release. Importantly, under the provisional release system any inmate "convicted, or . . . previously convicted, of committing or attempting to commit sexual battery, incest, or a lewd or indecent assault or act" was statutorily ineligible. § 944.277(1)(c), Fla. Stat. (1988) (emphasis added). As highlighted, a conviction for any type of lewd or indecent act rendered the inmate ineligible for early release, regardless of whether the acts were consensual or not. Lewd or indecent assaults or acts in violations of Chapter 800, Florida Statutes, which proscribes lewd acts and indecent exposure, 10 were disqualifying offenses. As such, convictions under section 800.04 fell within this ban on early release.

This blanket prohibition, however, was substantially narrowed in the 1990 legislative session. In 1990, the broad

The mandatory nature of the highlighted language raises the question of whether the control release system creates a liberty or due process interest. This issue, however, has not been raised in this proceeding.

In addition to the proscriptions of section 800.04, Chapter 800 also provides that an "unnatural and lascivious act with another person" and the "vulgar or indecent" exposure or exhibition of sexual organs are punishable as misdemeanors under sections 800.02 and 800.03, respectively.

prohibition on early release of inmates convicted of any lewd or indecent acts was eliminated and replaced with a more narrowly restricted range of offenses. First, the prohibition in section 944.277(1)(c) of the provisional release statute was replaced with new language which excluded from consideration any inmate who was:

convicted, or has been previously convicted, of committing or attempting to commit a lewd or indecent assault or act as a result of masturbating in public, exposing the sexual organs in a perverted manner or non-consensual handling or fondling of the sexual organs of another person.

Chapter 90-187, § 1, Laws of Florida. In recognition of this significant narrowing amendment, the Legislature explicitly stated that inmates previously ineligible under the blanket prohibition were eligible for, 11 and should retroactively receive, 12 provisional credits (unless their offenses fell within the three enumerated categories of lewd or indecent acts). As the Second District noted in Searcy v. Singletary, 590 So. 2d

(Emphasis added).

¹¹ Section 2 of Chapter 90-187, Laws of Florida, provides:

A person who is convicted, or has been previously convicted, of committing prior to the effective date of this act a lewd or lascivious assault or act specified in 944.277(1)(c), Florida Statutes, is eligible for provisional credits.

Section 19 of Chapter 90-377, Laws of Florida, states:

Effective July 1, 1990, an inmate convicted of a lewd or indecent act not listed in s. 944.277(1)(c), Florida Statutes, shall receive retroactive benefit of all provisional credit awards made during the service of his sentence, provided he is not otherwise ineligible for, or excluded from, receiving such an award.

1034, 1034 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), it appears "that a onetime blanket proscription against awarding provisional credits to persons convicted of lewd assault now has been narrowed to some extent by this rewording." Consequently, only those inmates convicted of the narrower range of lewd or indecent offenses such as masturbating in public, exposing their sexual organs in a perverted manner, or nonconsensual handling or fondling of another's sexual organs remained statutorily ineligible for provisional release.

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