DA 3.6.95	•
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA	FILED SIDJ WHITE JAN 23 1995
Case Number 83,955	_
	CLERK, SUPREME COURT By
	Chief Doputy Clark

On Petition for Discretionary Review From The First District Court of Appeal

VINCENT GRAMEGNA,

Petitioner,

vs.

FLORIDA PAROLE COMMISSION,

Respondent.

Answer Brief of Respondent, Florida Parole Commission

William L. Camper Beneral Counsel KURT E. AHRENDT Assistant Generation By: 1309 Winewood Blvd., Bldg. B Tallahassee, FL 32399-2450 (904) 488-4460 Fla. Bar #343625

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction, since the questions certified by the district court do not really present issues of great public importance. These questions are easily resolved merely by reference to the appropriate statute. Furthermore, this Court has previously answered one of the certified questions, in the case of <u>Dugger v. Grant</u>, 610 So.2d 428 (Fla. 1993).

The Petitioner in this proceeding never challenged the Commission's authority to rely on the arresting officer's affidavit in Control Release eligibility determinations. Had it been an issue, the Respondent would have cited the statutory section that specifically authorizes the Commission to rely on any information contained in arrest reports relating to the circumstances of the offense. Furthermore, in <u>Dugger v. Grant</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court held in no uncertain terms that information taken from an arrest report may serve as the sole basis far an inmate's eligibility determination.

In any event, the arrest report was not really an issue in this **case**. Mr. Gramegna was ineligible for Control Release regardless of the arrest report. Section 947.146(3)(c), Florida Statutes, specifically precludes early release for any inmates who are convicted of lewd and lascivious assaults or acts which involve noncansensual handling or fondling of the sexual organs of another person. The charging documents to which Mr. Gramegna pleaded guilty, clearly indicate that Mr. Gramegna placed his

hand on the female sexual organ of the victim. The victim was fourteen years ald, and could not legally consent to any lewd and lascivious assault. The assault was nonconsensual.

Mr. Gramegna was forty years old at the time af his conviction. The Court imposed three concurrent ten year sentences on April 2, 1991. As of this date, he has served less than four years of his sentence. Mr. Gramegna's sentence will expire upon his reaching his tentative release date (TRD), which is currently set at June 12, 1995. Mr. Gramegna's offense disqualified him from the Control Release program. However, even if he were eligible for early release, there is currently no prison overcrowding, and the prison population is projected to remain within legal limits for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, no one is being released early under the Control Release program. The issue of eligibility is o moot issue at this time.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

. 7

- I. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION SINCE THE QUESTIONS CERTIFIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT ARE NOT OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE.
- II, THE DISTRICT COURT AND CIRCUIT COURT BELOW PROPERLY DENIED MANDAMUS RELIEF WHERE THE PETITIONER FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT HE QUALIFIED FOR EARLY RELEASE FROM INCARCERATION UNDER THE CONTROL RELEASE STATUTES.
  - A. THE PETITIONER DOES NOT QUALIFY FOR CONTROL RELEASE UNDER SECTION 947,146(3)(C), FLORIDA STATUTES.
  - B. THE FLORIDA STATUTES SPECIFICALLY AUTHORIZE THE COMMISSION TO RELY ON ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN ARREST REPORTS RELATING TO THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE OFFENSE.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION SINCE THE QUESTIONS CERTIFIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT ARE NOT OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE.

This Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction in this case. The District Court below certified two **questions** to this Court as being of great public importance. However, both of these "questions" are easily resolved merely by reference to the appropriate statute. Moreover, out of the hundreds of Control Release cases pending in the circuit and district courts of this state, the issues raised for review by the district court would impact only a very small fraction of the total number of cases. In short, this **case** neither presents a significant question, nor does it affect a substantial number of cases in litigation.

It is appropriate at this point to look closely at the issues certified for this Court's consideration. The first question presented asks the following:

Whether an arresting officer's affidavit may be used to deny control release eligibility, under Section 947.146(3)(c), Florida Statutes (1993), where the information, indictment, bill of particulars and judgment of conviction do not establish a disqualifying conviction?

Prior to addressing this issue, the Court should review the pleadings submitted in the lower court proceedings. A close inspection will reveal that the Petitioner never challenged the <u>Commission's authority to rely on the arresting officer's</u> <u>affidavit in Control Release eligibility determinations</u>. It was never an issue in contention, and therefore, it was not addressed in any of the appellate briefs filed.

۰.

Had this specific issue been raised in the lower court praceedings or on appeal, counsel for the Commission most certainly would have pointed out the statutory provision in Section 947.146(3), Florida Statutes, located a few paragraphs below the statutory excluder in question, which states in pertinent part:

> <u>In making control release eligibility</u> <u>determinations under this subsection, the</u> <u>authority may rely on</u> any document leading to or generated during the course of the criminal proceedings, including, but not limited to, any psesentence or postsentence investigation or <u>any information contained in</u> <u>arrest reports relating to circumstances of</u> the offense. (emphasis added)

So, the answer to the district court's question is right in the statute. The Commission may certainly rely on an arresting offices's affidavit in making Control Release eligibility determinations, because the statute clearly says it can. There was absolutely no reason for the district court to agonize over the issue, or to question its own prior opinion in Fulkroad v. Florida Parole Commission, 632 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). The district court answered the question correctly the first time it considered the issue.

The district court below, however, went on to **decide** this case based on an issue which had never been raised by either of the parties. In addition, the district court failed to discuss the issues which had been properly raised, and which served as the basis for the trial court's decision. Instead, the district court merely certified a second question for this Court's consideration, which asked the following:

> Whether, for purposes of control release eligibility determinations under Section 947.146(3)(c), Florida Statutes, a child under the age of sixteen can consent to sexual acts that constitute a violation of Section 800.04, Florida Statutes?

Once again, the Florida Statutes provide the answer to this question. Section 800.04, Florida Statutes, makes lewd, lascivious, or indecent assault or acts upon or in the presence of a child a crime, and states in pertinent part that "[n]either the victim's lack of chastity nor the victim's consent is a defense to the crime proscribed by this section." Consent is not a defense to the crime of lewd and lascivious assault for a very good reason -- that is, a child is not in a position to give consent where an adult is involved because children of tender years do not understand the nature of sexual offenses against them. The Legislature stated this quite clearly in the preamble to Chapter 84-86, Laws of Florida:

\* \*

WHEREAS, the intent of the Legislature was and remains to prohibit lewd and lascivious acts upon children, including sexual intercourse and other acts defined as sexual battery, without regard either to the victim's consent or the victim's prior chastity, and

WHEREAS, the children of tender years do not understand the nature of sexual offenses against them and, through fear, guilt, or immaturity may fail to report the occurrence of **a** sexual offense.

It should be'clear that the statute under which the Petitioner was convicted has eliminated consent as a defense because the Legislature recognized "consent" of a child victim is in reality no consent at all. Thus, Petitioner's convictions for three counts of lewd and lascivious assaults or acts -- that is, the handling and fondling of the child victim's breasts and vaginal area and placing the child's hand on his own sexual organ -- falls within the tenor and meaning of the exclusion in Section 947.146(3)(c). That section prohibits early release from incarceration through Control Release, where there has been a conviction for a lewd or indecent assault or act, which involves the non-consensual handling or fondling of the sexual organs of another person.

Thus, **as** was the case with the first question, the second question is also answered by statute. The district courts of appeal should certify a question **as** one of great public importance only where there is truly a question, and where the outcome would be of some significance. Out of 918 lawsuits, filed against the Commission which pertain to the Control Release program, **less** than 15% of those cases even involve eligibility determinations, such **as** in the case at bar. Only **a** very small number of these cases raise any challenge to the Commission's use of arrest affidavit or whethes a child can "consent" to lewd and lascivious assaults. The statute is clear and the law appears settled in this area.

There are, however, other related issues which are of vital

importance, which impact large numbers of inmates, and which are in dire need of resolution by this Court. Over 70% of the Control Release cases currently pending in court involve inmates who have been found eligible for the Control Release program, but who are seeking earlier Control Release Dates (CRD's) than that assigned by the Commission. The District Court has, in effect, sanctioned mandamus **as** a means by which a prison inmate may assert his right to an advanceable CRD. See Hibbott v. Florida Parole Commission, 616 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). The question is, does an inmate have a right to any particular CRD? Anothes way of stating the question is this: Do the Florida Statutes create a "liberty interest" in Control Release? The answer to this question is even more critical at this juncture because right now, and well into the foreseeable future, there appears to be adequate prison capacity in order to maintain the inmate population within legal limits. No inmates are being released under the program. Accordingly, the Commission faces tidal wave of litigation from prison inmates asserting their rights under the Control Release statutes via mandamus.

**, 4** , 4

The issue of whether Control Release involves a "liberty interest" has been squarely before the First District Court in numerous appeals. However, in every case, the Court has rendered per curium affirmed decisions without written opinion<sup>1</sup>,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See eg., <u>Bergelson v. Florida Parole Commission</u>, Case No. 93-3061 (Fla. 1st DCA, per curium affirmed June **27**, 1994); <u>McLeod</u> <u>v. Florida Parole Commission</u>, Case No. 93-227 (Fla. 1st DCA, per curium affirmed April 15, 1994); <u>McCabe v. Florida Parole</u> <u>Commission</u>, Case No. 93-2386 (Fla. 1st DCA, per curium affirmed

precluding any appellate review by this Court.

The issue of whether the statutes create a liberty interest in Control Release is fundamental to every Control Release case, including the case at bar. This is **so** because one must know what rights exist before making any attempt to enforce those rights in court. The district court has perpetuated a system whereby Control Release Dates are litigated without any clear idea as to the rights involved. It is complete chaos.

The question certified by the district court in the **case** at **bar** is one more example of an attempt to resolve procedural issues without any definition **or** understanding of the rights involved. There is a remarkable similarity between the question certified in this case at bar, and the question certified to this Court in the case of <u>Dugger v. Grant</u>, **587** So.2d 608 (Fla, 1st DCA 1991), as can be seen in this comparison:

# <u>Question Certified in Dugger</u> <u>v. Grant</u>

May the Department of Corrections rely ON information taken from an arrest report which is included in the PSI as the sole basis for determining an inmate's eligibility for provisional credits pursuant to Section 944.277, Florida Statutes.

# <u>Question Certified in Grameqna</u> <u>v. Florida Parole Commission</u>

Whether an arresting officer's affidavit may be used to deny control release eligibility, under Section 947-146(3)(c), Florida Statutes (1993), where the information, indictment, bill of particulars and judgment of conviction do not establish a disqualifying conviction?

April 18, 1994); <u>Sheehan v. Florida Parole Commission</u>, **Case** No. 93-104 (Fla. 1st DCA, **per** curium affirmed March 16, 1994)

It should be noted that Control Release is the statutory successor<sup>2</sup> to Provisional Credits, another mechanism which was previously used to manage the state prison population. Both programs had precisely the same function and purpose. The main difference between Control Release and Provisional Credits is the agency which administers the program. The Department of Corrections administered Provisional Credits (prior to its repeal), while the Florida Parole Commission administers Control It seems guite obvious and logical that the two Release. programs should be interpreted in a like manner, yet the district court has presented the same question (but different agencies) to this Court for the second time. It may be that the district court has **a** fundamental disagreement with this Court's decision in Dugger v. Grant, supra, with regard to whether the statutes create a liberty interest. That is the only explanation for the district court's reluctance to address the issue.

. . . . .

In <u>Duqger v. Grant</u>, 610 **So.2d 428** (Fla. **1993)**, this Court did not attempt to address the inmate's procedural claims without first defining his rights -- and the district should not have tried to do so in the case at bar. Instead of following this Court's teachings, the district court instead chose once again to assume the existence of procedural rights, and then attempted to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The statutory prerequisites for control release are almost identical to those contained in the provisional credits statutes. Cf. Section 944.277(1), Florida Statutes (1991) with Section 947.146(3), Florida Statutes (1993). Control release, however, was designed to "kick in" prior to any award of provisional credits, thereby eliminating the need for provisional credits. The provisional credits statute has now been repealed.

distinguish the facts from those presented in <u>Grant</u>. This was improper. The district court was well aware of this Court's prior analysis of rights stemming from early release statutes:

> As stated previously, section 944.277 is permissive, rather than mandatory, and is strictly an administrative mechanicm to relieve prison overcrowding. Because provisional credits are solely implemented to relieve prison ovescrowding, are in no way tied to an inmate's overall length of sentence, and create no reasonabie expectation of release on  $\mathbf{a}$  given date, no substantive or procedural "liberty" due process rights vest in an inmate under the statute. We note, however, that, even if section 944.277 did vest due process rights in an inmate, the level of evidence necessary to deny provisional credits would not rise to that necessary to convict; nor would the Secretary's determination necessarily be subject to second-guessing on review. As the United States Supreme Court held in Superintendent, Massachusetts Correctional Institution v. Hill, 472 U.S. 445, 456, 105 S.Ct. 2768, 2774, 86 L.Ed.2d 356 (1985), only a "modicum" of evidence is necessary to support an administrative decision regarding inmates even when such a decision does involve due process rights.

> We find that the Secretary, in his discretion under the statutory scheme has the authority to examine the entire record, including the **PSI**, to determine whether an inmate has committed or attempted a sex act. In this case, we conclude that the Secretary could consider Grant's conduct to be that of committing or attempting a sex act even though the jury found him guilty of a battery rather than a sexual battery under the evidence and even though Grant's conduct may not have risen to the level of criminal offense. We emphasize that section 944.277 is purely an administrative procedural mechanism in which no due process rights are implemented. Consequently, we hold that provisional credit awards under the statute are properly within the Secretary's discretion and that pre-sentence

investigation reports in the record may be used by the Secretary in making that discretionary determination.

610 So.2d 432 (Emphasis added) (footnote omitted)

. F . . . .

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